THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001266

---

Personal Care, Inc.,

vs.

Jerry N. Theos; URICCHIO, HOWE, KRELL,  
JOHNSON, TOPOREK THEOS & KEITH, PA;  
Cheryl D. Shoun; and TAYLOR, SHOUN,  
BOWLEY & BYRD, LLC,

Appellant,

**RECEIVED**

JUN 08 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Thomas A. Pendarvis, J.D.  
Christopher W. Lempeis, Jr., J.D., LL.M.  
PENDARVIS LAW OFFICES, P.C.  
710 Boundary Street, Suite A1  
Beaufort, SC 29902-4188  
843.524.9500 Tel.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in:

- A. its application of Rule 40(j), SCRCP?
- B. in holding that, in the context of a Rule 40(j) motion to restore, *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 620-621, 591 S.E.2d 26, 28 (2003) provides the trial court the authority to conduct a *sua sponte* inquiry into the merits of the claims and/or defenses of the parties?
- C. in holding that, in the context of a Rule 40(j) motion to restore, *Maxwell* provides the trial court the authority to conduct a *sua sponte ad hoc* inquiry into the merits of the affirmative defenses of the defendant parties where no defendant had filed any responsive pleadings or any dispositive motions?
- D. in the context of a Rule 40(j) motion to restore, making the factual determination of when Appellant knew or should have known of it claims against Respondents?
- E. in the context of a Rule 40(j) motion to restore, failing to apply the law under *Stokes-Craven* that holds the 3 year statute of limitations on a client's legal malpractice claim against a lawyer representing the client on a lawsuit matter begins to run from the date of an "adverse verdict, judgment, or ruling" in the underlying lawsuit?
- F. in the context of a Rule 40(j) motion to restore, failing to allow Personal Care to do any discovery before ruling on an unfiled dispositive motion turning on disputed issues of material fact?
- G. in the context of a Rule 40(j) motion to restore, effectively granting an unfiled dispositive motion for summary judgment when there is a scintilla of evidence as to a genuine issue of material fact on each element of the statute of limitations affirmative defense?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order denying a Motion to Restore filed pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCF, on behalf of Appellant, Personal Care, Inc. (“Personal Care”) to have its’ case restored to the active trial docket; and an order denying Personal Care’s Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, the consequence of each effectively dismissing Personal Care’s claims against Respondents. Based on the procedural context for this appeal, the Statement of the Case and the Statement of Facts overlap somewhat.

On March 8, 2013, Personal Care filed a Complaint against Respondents and later on April 19, 2013, filed an Amended Complaint. (R. 233, Verified Compl.; (R. 252, Amend. Verified Compl.). On August 27, 2013, the Hon. R. Markley Dennis, Jr., signed a consent order entered by counsel for all parties<sup>1</sup> striking the case from the docket pursuant to Rule 40(j). (R. 2, Consent Order). On September 22, 2014, Personal Care filed a Motion to Restore the Circuit Court case to the active trial roster. (R. 331, App. Motion to Restore).

On November 13, 2014, the day before the hearing, Respondents Jerry N. Theos and Uricchio, Howe, Krell, Johnson, Toporek, Theos & Keith, PA filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Restore Pursuant to Prior Order of the Court and Rule 40(j), SCRCF. On November 14, 2014, Respondent Cheryl Shoun filed a Motion for Sanctions and Expedited Hearing pursuant to Rule 11, SCRCF, and on November 17, 2014, Respondent Shoun also filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff’s Motion to Restore pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCF. Also on November 17, 2014, Respondent Taylor, Bowley and Byrd, LLC filed both a Motion for

---

<sup>1</sup> In August 2013, all Respondents were represented by David W. Overstreet and other lawyers practicing with Carlock, Copeland & Stair. Between August 2013 and August 2014 and while this lawsuit was under the Rule 40(j) Order, a number of other lawyers took over the representation of the various Respondents.

Sanctions and Expedited Hearing pursuant to Rule 11, SCRCPP; and a Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion to Restore pursuant to Rule 40(j).

On November 19, 2014, the trial court heard oral arguments on Appellants' Motion to Restore; there were no other motions filed by any party. Thereafter, the Respondents filed supplemental memorandums in opposition to the Motion to Restore and Personal Care filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion. (R. 575, App. Memorandum in Support of Motion to Restore).

On March 3, 2015, the trial court issued an Order ("March 2015 Order") denying Personal Care's Motion to Restore. (R. 7, March 3, 2015, Order). On March 16, 2015, Personal Care filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the March 2015 Order, pursuant to Rules 52(a) and 59(e), SCRCPP. (R. 633, App. Motion to Alter or Amend). On May 21, 2015, Personal Care filed Plaintiff's Memorandum as to the Procedural Requirements Governing a Motion Pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCPP. (R. 750, App. Memo as to 40(j) Procedure).

On June 22, 2015, the trial court filed an Order ("June 2015 Order") concerning the Motion to Alter or Amend, requesting a response as to whether the parties wished to supplement the record. (R. 105, June 22, 2015, Order). On July 9, 2015, as authorized by the trial court, Personal Care filed a Memorandum regarding its desire to supplement the record, objecting to the trial court's request for record materials in the context of a Motion to Restore, but of an abundance of caution, Personal Care did later supplement the record with an Affidavit, albeit within the context of reserving all objections to the trial court's request. (R. 763, App. Memorandum regarding its desire to supplement the record; (R. 773, Aff. of Cignavitch, filed Jan. 7, 2016).

Thereafter, the trial court conducted a telephone status conference and upon hearing that the parties did not intend to provide further information, the trial court informed the parties it would

issue a final order on Personal Care's Motion to Alter or Amend. On May 23, 2016, the trial court filed a modified Order ("May 2016 Order") on Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment, denying Personal Care's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment under Rules 52(a) and 59(e), SCRCP, and also again denying Personal Care's Motion to Restore. (R. 110, May 23, 2016, Order).

On June 14, 2016, Personal Care timely filed and served Respondents the Notice of Appeal for this matter. On July 18, 2016, the South Carolina Court of Appeals granted Personal Care's first request for extension to file its initial brief. On or about August 16, 2016, Respondents filed a Joint Motion to Dismiss the present appeal. Said Motion was denied on October 25, 2016, and pursuant to an Order of this Court, Appellant filed and served an Amended Notice of Appeal on October 31, 2016. The Initial Brief of Appellant is timely filed.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

This lawsuit arises from Respondents' representation of Personal Care to pursue its claims against a former employee, Hattie M. Askew. In September 2009, Respondent Theos sent a letter to counsel for Askew, with a simultaneous copy to a third-party containing statements that Askew would later allege were defamatory. (R. 252, 257, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶¶ 1, 18). In December 2009, Respondents commenced an action in Charleston County on behalf of Personal Care, styled *Personal Care, Inc. vs. Hattie M. Askew d/b/a Lowcountry Medical Transport, Inc.*; Civil Action No. 2010-CP-23-626 ("the Askew lawsuit"). (R. 257, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶ 19). In March of 2010, Askew filed an Answer and Counterclaim asserting a claim for defamation ("Askew counterclaim") against Personal Care based on the alleged defamatory statements in the letter published by Respondent Theos. (R. 257, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶ 20). After Respondents chose not to produce any evidence in opposition to a motion to change venue, in July of 2012, Personal Care's case was moved to Askew's home venue, Hampton County, South Carolina. (R. 258-254,

257-260, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶¶ 1, 20-29).

More than two years later, in August of 2012, Respondents filed a motion to be relieved as counsel for Personal Care in the *Askew* lawsuit based on a conflict of interest under Rule 1.7, RPC, which was created in September of 2009 when Respondent Theos sent the defamatory letter. (R. 259, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶ 32). On November 1, 2012, the trial court in the *Askew* lawsuit signed an Order prepared by Respondents relieving Respondents as counsel of record for Personal Care; and leaving Personal Care 60 days to find substitute counsel, or Personal Care, a corporation, would be forced to proceed *pro se*, despite clear prohibitions in South Carolina concerning a corporate entity's ability to proceed *pro se* in Circuit Court. (R. 259, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶¶ 34-35).

*[This is where the overlap begins between the Statement of Case and Statement of Facts.]*

On March 8, 2013, Personal Care filed the present lawsuit alleging damages sustained because of various failures of Respondents during their representation of Personal Care in the *Askew* lawsuit, including Respondents' handling of the venue matter and Respondents' failure to inform Personal Care of the conflict which served as the basis for Respondents successfully withdrawing as counsel until more than two years after the conflict materialized. (R. 252-254, 257-260, Amend. Verified Compl., ¶¶ 1, 20-29). On April 19, 2013, Personal Care filed an Amended Complaint in the malpractice case, while the underlying *Askew* lawsuit was still pending. (R. 252-254, Amend. Verified Compl.).

On August 27, 2013, Judge Dennis signed the Consent Order pursuant to Rule 40(j) striking the present case from the docket. (R. 2, Aug. 27, 2013, Order). Thereafter, in November 2013, the *Askew* lawsuit was settled.

On September 22, 2014, Personal Care filed a Motion to Restore this case to the active trial

roster (R. 331, App. Motion to Restore) and the hearing on that motion took place on November 19, 2014. (R. 7, March 3, 2015, Order). None of the Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss, Motion for Summary Judgment, or any other dispositive motion. On December 8, 2014, Personal Care filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Restore indicating that:

- A. A “Consent Order Restoring Case to Docket” was timely filed one day before the one year anniversary of the “Consent Order Striking Case From Docket” was equivalent to and should be treated as a motion to restore and be granted<sup>2</sup>;
- B. Personal Care’s Motion to Restore should be granted pursuant to the express language of Rule 40(j), SCRCF;
- C. A party can move to restore the case to the docket more than one year after the claim was the stricken without violating Rule 40(j);
- D. Because Rule 40(j) is exclusively an administrative rule, there is no basis for an evaluation of the merits of the claims or merits of any affirmative defenses before granting the motion to restore the case pursuant to Rule 40(j);
- E. Rule 40(j) does not provide a procedural mechanism by which Respondents could assert affirmative defenses to the merits of Appellant’s claims in opposition to the motion to restore;
- F. Even if the Respondents had filed a dispositive motion asserting the affirmative defense of statute of limitations, which they had not, the verified facts in the record established:

---

<sup>2</sup> A “Consent Order Restoring Case to Docket” was inadvertently submitted for signature by the trial court unfortunately without signatures from all the new lawyers who had taken over the representation of all of the Respondents.

1. The lawsuit was filed within one year of the time when Personal Care knew or should have known of an injury sufficient to trigger objective notice that a claim against the Respondents might exist, and the motion to restore was filed a little more than two years from that same date, both of which are well within the three year statute of limitations; and
2. The verified facts in the record establish at least a jury question as to whether Respondents should be estopped from asserting a statute of limitations defense based on Defendants' assurances to Plaintiff.

(R. 575-586, App. Memorandum in Support of its Motion to Restore).

In its March 2015 Order, the trial court disregarded the Consent Order and held that the Motion to Restore was impermissibly filed after the statute of limitations time-barred Personal Care's claims against the Respondents (R. 11-12, March 3, 2015, Order). The March 2015 Order relied on the trial court's findings of fact conducted based on a review of documents in the record; and the trial court's application of *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 620-621, 591 S.E.2d 26, 28 (2003), for the proposition that a "party cannot take advantage of the one year tolling period provided by [Rule 40(j)]" if the party moving to restore has done so more than one year after the claim was stricken from the docket. (R. 12, March 3, 2015, Order). Based on its read of *Maxwell* and a finding of a filed date of the Motion to Restore in excess of the one year anniversary of when the case was stricken from the docket, the court went on to review South Carolina law concerning the affirmative defense that this case is barred by the statute of limitations which started to run as soon as it could be said that Personal Care might have known a claim to exist, citing to *Epstein v. Brown*, 363 S.C. 372, 376, 610 S.E.2d 816,818 (2005). (R. 14, March 3, 2015, Order). *Epstein* was later overruled by *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C.517, 534, 787 S.E.2d 485, 494

(2016), which requires “an adverse verdict, judgment, or ruling” before a legal malpractice action accrues “that is predicated on an injury or damage caused by the failure of an underlying suit due to an attorney’s alleged malpractice.” There was no “an adverse verdict, judgment, or ruling” in the *Askew* lawsuit until the matter was settled and dismissed in November 2012, a mere six months or so before this lawsuit was filed in March 2013.

On March 16, 2015, Personal Care filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the March Order, pursuant to Rules 52(a) and 59(e), SCRCP, on the following bases:

1. The March Order should not have been issued in the Rule 40(j) context because:
  - a. Rule 40(j) is administrative only and does not provide for dismissal of a suit;
  - b. The motion to restore should be granted based on the plain language of Rule 40(j);
  - c. Either party could move to restore without violating the Consent Rule 40(j) Order;
  - d. Rule 40(j) does not provide or allow the Defendants to assert affirmative defenses;
  - e. Rule 40(j) does not provide the trial court with authority to evaluate the merits of the claims in this suit; and
  - f. While some facts were improperly included in the Order as they were irrelevant to a Motion to Restore, other facts in the record were improperly ignored.
2. The March 2015 Order should not have been issued because no defendant (Respondent) filed a motion to dismiss or for summary judgment such that the Order should be limited to the relief requested in the Motion to Restore; and

3. Substantively, there was evidence in the record which was ignored and not addressed in the March 2015 Order that directly contradicted, or gave rise to inferences that contradicted, the position adopted by the trial court as to questions of fact regarding Personal Care's discovery of the claims giving rise to this malpractice suit; and that regardless, there was evidence in the record to suggest directly or by inference that Personal Care sought to restore claims that the statute of limitations would not bar at the time of the filing of the Motion to Restore, all of which raised issues triable to a jury.

(R. 633, App. Motion to Alter or Amend the March Order).

More than a year after Personal Care filed the Motion to Alter or Amend the March 2015 Order, on June 22, 2015, the trial court filed the June 2015 Order requesting a response as to whether the parties wished to supplement the record with affidavits or present live testimony as to the statute of limitations issue the trial court was considering in the context of a motion to restore. (R. 106, June 22, 2015, Order). In the June 2015 Order, the trial court concluded as a matter of law that *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 621 (2003) specifically allows a party to challenge a motion to restore, while, at the same time *Maxwell* does not address the actual procedural timing for such a challenge. (R. 108-109, June 22, 2015, Order). In this June 2015 Order, the trial court concluded—as a matter of law and without citation to any authority—that the time for a trial court to address a challenge to a motion to restore based on the merits of the case is within proceedings on a Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. 109, June 22, 2015, Order). With this pronouncement, the trial court acknowledged that Personal Care had not had an opportunity to address the statute of limitations issue at the November 19, 2014, hearing on the Motion to Restore, and for that reason, the trial court concluded, as a matter of law, that it should address the statute of limitations issue by

allowing the parties to submit affidavits or conduct live testimony at a motion hearing to alter or amend a judgment as to a motion to restore. (R. 106, June 22, 2015, Order). These conclusions were presumably all based on the trial court's reading of *Maxwell*, as the June 2015 Order did not contain reference to any other decisions (R. 105-109, June 22, 2015, Order). Personal Care, to this day, remains unaware of any persuasive or binding jurisprudence that would support the trial court's determinations, as discussed in Plaintiff's Memorandum as to the Procedural Requirements Governing a Motion Pursuant to Rule 40(j). R.750, Memorandum filed May 21, 2015).

To abide the June 2015 Order, on July 9, 2015, Personal Care filed a Memorandum objecting to the June 2015 Order because:

1. The Order and the discovery plan it embodied eviscerated Personal Care's right to conduct discovery as to its claims and defenses;
2. The trial court's *sua sponte* inquiry, or any inquiry at all into the statute of limitations was and is inappropriate in the context of a motion to restore a case to the active trial docket;
3. The *Maxwell* case does not hold that a party has a right to challenge a Rule 40(j) Motion to Restore based on the merits of the case and/or an affirmative defense premised on the statute of limitations;
4. The June 2015 Order, concerning a Motion to Restore creates a dispositive ruling, as if a Motion for Summary Judgment had been filed, and does so while ignoring the rights of Personal Care and the standard of review applicable to a summary judgment analysis;
5. Without waiving its objections, Personal Care, would file additional affidavit testimony, even though the Respondents should have been estopped to assert a

statute of limitations defense based on their statements and assurances to Personal Care's principal, Bernard Cignavitch, and based on the limited record available to Personal Care at such a preliminary phase of the suit.

(R. 763, App. Memorandum dated July 9, 2015).

Personal Care did later supplement the record with an Affidavit by Mr. Cignavitch, albeit without abandoning its objections to the trial court's insistence that such information could be germane to a Rule 40(j) Motion to Restore. (R. 733, Affidavit of Bernard Cignavitch, dated August 25, 2015).

Thereafter, the trial court conducted a telephone status conference and upon hearing that the parties were all in agreement that no further submissions to the "*Record*" for the Motion to Restore were forthcoming, the trial court informed the parties it would issue a final order on Personal Care's Motion to Alter or Amend.

On May 23, 2016, the trial court filed the May 2016 Order denying Personal Care's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and also denying the Motion to Restore, because the trial court found that Personal Care's claims against Respondents were time-barred at the time of the filing of the Motion to Restore. (R. 110, May 23, 2016, Order). The May 2016 Order references the Consent Order striking this case from the docket as the law of the case because no appeal had been taken from the consent order to remove the case, although at the time of the consent order and thereafter, the only appropriate procedural mechanism to address the Consent Order was a motion to restore pursuant to Rule 40(j). (R. 112-114, May 23, 2016, Order). Among other citations, the May 2016 Order relies substantially upon the initial opinion in *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, No. 2013-001452, 2015 WL5247124, (S.C. Sept. 9, 2015), which was later substituted with *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C.517, 787 S.E.2d 485 (S.C. May 25, 2016). (R. 119-120,

May 23, 2016, Order). The May 2016 Order purports to utilize the substituted version of *Stokes-Craven* as the basis of its analysis and application of the discovery rule to the facts before the trial court in the context of addressing a motion to restore. (R. 124, May 23, 2016, Order).

Contrary to the trial court's ruling and as stated earlier, the Supreme Court's ruling in *Stokes-Craven* holds that "an adverse verdict, judgment, or ruling" must occur before a legal malpractice action accrues when the claim "is predicated on an injury or damage caused by the failure of an underlying suit due to an attorney's alleged malpractice" as it was in this case. There was no "adverse verdict, judgment, or ruling" in the *Askew* lawsuit until the matter was settled and dismissed in November 2012, six months or so before this lawsuit was filed in March 2013.

The May 2016 Order erroneously concludes that:

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