THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2013-CP-10-1396

Appellate Case No. 2016-001266

RECEIVED

JUN 02 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Personal Care, Inc.,Appellant,
v.
Jerry N. Theos; Uricchio, Howe, Krell, Johnson, Toporek, Theos & Keith, PA; Cheryl D. Shoun;
and Taylor, Shoun, Bowley & Byrd, LLC,Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
CHERYL D. SHOUN AND TAYLOR, SHOUN, BOWLEY & BYRD, LLC

K&L GATES LLP
Jennifer H. Thiem
Karen E. Spain
134 Meeting Street, Suite 500
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 579-5600
jennifer.thiem@klgates.com

Attorney for Respondent Cheryl D. Shoun

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court's Denial of Personal Care's Motion to Restore Was Proper and Should be Affirmed.

On appeal, Personal Care argues that the Circuit Court erred when it denied Personal Care's Motion to Restore on the basis that the statute of limitations had run on Personal Care's claims. In setting forth its arguments, Personal Care repeatedly misstates and misrepresents the facts and procedural posture of this action. For the reasons set forth below, in addition to any other ground appearing on the Record, Respondents respectfully request that the Circuit Court's orders be affirmed.

A. The Circuit Court properly considered, in the context of the Motion to Restore, whether the statute of limitations had expired on Personal Care's claims.

Restoration of a case stricken from the docket pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRCP, is not automatic. Instead, the Circuit Court must hold a hearing on the motion to restore and has the discretion to deny the motion to restore. Rule 40(j), SCRCP, provides the following:

A party may strike its complaint, counterclaim, cross-claim or third party claim from any docket one time as a matter of right, provided that all parties adverse to that claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or third party claim agree in writing that it may be stricken, and all further agree that if the claim is restored upon motion made within 1 year of the date stricken, the statute of limitations shall be tolled as to all consenting parties during the time the case is stricken, and any unexpired portion of the statute of limitations on the date the case was stricken shall remain and begin to run on the date that the claim is restored. A party moving to restore a case stricken from the docket shall provide all parties notice of the motion to restore at least 10 days before it is heard. Upon being restored, the case shall be placed on the General Docket and proceed from that date as provided in this rule.

Rule 40(j), SCRCP (emphasis added).

In *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 591 S.E.2d 26 (2003), the Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a party cannot take advantage of the one-year tolling period provided by Rule 40(j), SCRCP, if the party moves to restore the case to the docket more than one year after the claim had been stricken pursuant to Rule 40(j). *Id.* at 621. The Court further found that defendants can oppose a motion to restore on grounds of the expiration of the statute of limitations. *Id.* at 622 n.2. According to the Court, parties who consent to strike a case from the docket pursuant to Rule 40(j) agree not to challenge the statute of limitations for one year; however, after that one-year period, the parties can challenge restoration of the action on statute-of-limitations grounds. *Id.* Thus, in hearing a motion to restore, a circuit court can properly consider whether the statute of limitations on the movant's claims has expired. Indeed, such consideration furthers one of the objectives of the statute of limitations, which is to "relieve the courts of the burden of trying stale claims when a plaintiff has slept on his or her rights." *See Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 526, 787 S.E.2d 485, 490 (2016).

In the instant case, the statute of limitations on Personal Care's claims was not tolled following entry of the 2013 Judge Dennis Order striking the case from the docket. It is undisputed that Personal Care did not file its Motion to Restore until September 22, 2014, which was more than one year after the Circuit Court entered the 2013 Judge Dennis Order dismissing the case on August 28, 2013. Because Personal Care filed its Motion to Restore more than one year after entry of the 2013 Judge Dennis Order, Defendants could challenge the Motion to Restore based on statute-of-limitations grounds. *See Maxwell*, 356 S.C. at 622 n.2; *see also Graham v. Dorchester Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 339 S.C. 121, 125, 528 S.E.2d 80, 82 (Ct. App. 2000). Therefore, the Circuit Court's consideration of the statute of limitations in the context of a Motion to Restore was proper.

Personal Care appears to take the position that consideration of the statute of limitations during a hearing on a motion to restore is appropriate only where a party pleads a statute of limitations defense. If that is the case, then the Circuit Court properly considered the statute of limitations for the additional reason that Theos and Urrichio Howe filed an Answer on July 10, 2013, asserting, in their Second Defense, that Personal Care's claims were barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 287, ¶ 40.) Indeed, Personal Care's counsel admitted, during the Hearing on the Motion to Restore held on November 19, 2014, that Theos and his law firm had filed an Answer and had raised the statute of limitations as a defense. (R. p. 301, lines 8–10; R. p. 322, line 22–p. 323, line 8; R. p. 325, lines 18–20.) Nonetheless, in its initial appellate brief, Personal Care repeatedly, and incorrectly, avows that no defendant filed an Answer before the case was stricken from the docket. (App. Br. at 14 (arguing that the Circuit Court should not have considered the statute of limitations “when no defendant filed an Answer”); *id.* at 16 (stating that no Respondent asserted a statute of limitations affirmative defense and that no Answers were filed); *id.* at 17 (stating that Respondents had not filed Answers asserting a statute of limitations defense); *id.* at 19 (contending that the “trial court should not have *de facto* granted summary judgment as to the unpleaded statute of limitations defense”).

Personal Care's argument on appeal that the Circuit Court improperly considered the statute of limitations because no party had filed an Answer or raised a statute of limitations defense is belied by the Record and by Personal Care's own arguments at the Hearing on the Motion to Restore. As the Supreme Court found in *Maxwell*, defendants can oppose a motion to restore on grounds of the expiration of the statute of limitations when the motion to restore was

filed more than one year after the case was stricken from the docket. Thus, the Circuit Court properly considered the statute of limitations at the Hearing on the Motion to Restore.⁴

B. The Circuit Court properly found that the statute of limitations had expired prior to the date on which Personal Care filed the Motion to Restore.

i. The Circuit Court applied the proper standard to the statute of limitations.

This action is governed by a three-year statute of limitations. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530 (2005); *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 526, 787 S.E.2d 485 (2016) (applying three-year statute of limitations in legal malpractice action); *Mazloom v. Mazloom*, 382 S.C. 307, 323, 675 S.E.2d 746, 755 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd*, 392 S.C. 403, 709 S.E.2d 661 (2011) (citing three-year statute of limitations in breach of fiduciary duty action). “A cause of action accrues at the moment when the plaintiff has a legal right to sue on it.” *Brown v. Finger*, 240 S.C. 102, 124 S.E.2d 781 (1962). At that point, the law presumes at least nominal damages, and the fact that substantial damages did not occur until later is immaterial to determining when the action accrued or arose. *Livingston v. Sims*, 197 S.C. 458, 15 S.E.2d 770 (1941), *modified by Santee Portland Cement v. Daniel Int’l Corp.*, 299 S.C. 269, 384 S.E.2d 693 (1989) (discovery rule applies to contract statute of limitations); *see Stephens v. Druffin*, 327 S.C. 1, 488 S.E.2d 3, 7 (1997).

“Under the discovery rule, the limitations period commences when the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice

⁴ Personal Care discusses at length on page 15 of its Initial Brief a motion for summary judgment filed in *Maxwell v. Genez*. According to Personal Care, this argument regarding *Maxwell*’s motion for summary judgment was “presented to the trial court in this case.” (App. Br. at 15.) Respondents have reviewed the Record from below and have not found any occasion during which Personal Care provided to the Circuit Court the motion for summary judgment in *Maxwell* or otherwise presented argument regarding the same, and Personal Care’s citations to “Motion For Summary Judgment in *Maxwell*” do not indicate that this motion was ever presented in the case below or in any way made part of the Record.

that some claim against another party might exist.” *Stokes-Craven*, 416 S.C. at 525–26. The statute of limitations “begins to run when a person *could or should have known*, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action might exist in his or her favor, rather than when a person obtains actual knowledge of either the potential claim or of the facts giving rise thereto.” *Stokes-Craven*, 416 S.C. at 526 (quoting *Burgess v. Am. Cancer Soc’y, S.C. Div., Inc.*, 300 S.C. 182, 186, 386 S.E.2d 798, 800 (Ct. App. 1989)). Thus, in determining when the statute of limitations starts to run, courts are to apply an objective, rather than subjective, standard. *Id.*

Pursuant to the legislatively-mandated discovery rule, “all legal malpractice actions must be commenced within three years after the claimant knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he or she had a cause of action.” *Stokes-Craven*, 416 S.C. at 531. A legal malpractice claim “is predicated on an injury or damage to a client caused by an alleged breach of duty by the client’s attorney.” *Id.* at 533, 787 S.E.2d at 493–94. Personal Care incorrectly suggests that the *Stokes-Craven* case stands for the proposition that no legal malpractice cause of action can accrue until there is an adverse verdict, judgment or ruling. Rather, the *Stokes-Craven* Court acknowledged that “[t]his predicate injury or damage may take many forms,” including malpractice arising out of a law firm’s alleged failure to settle a dispute prior to arbitration or failure to include all defendants in a settlement. *Id.* at 534 & n.6.

Personal Care’s claim for legal malpractice is predicated on a Counterclaim for defamation filed against Plaintiff in the underlying *Askew* case. According to Personal Care’s Verified Complaint and Verified Amended Complaint, Defendants allegedly breached their duty to Personal Care by sending an allegedly defamatory letter in September 2009, thus exposing Personal Care to liability, as evidenced by a Counterclaim filed in March 2010. Paragraph 18 of the Verified Amended Complaint alleges that the first act of negligence occurred in September

2009 when Theos allegedly sent a defamatory letter to a third party. Paragraph 20 of the Verified Amended Complaint further alleges that, on March 9, 2010, the underlying defendant filed an Answer and Counterclaim asserting a claim for defamation based on the allegedly defamatory statements in the letter published by Theos in September 2009. Finally, Paragraph 40 of the Verified Amended Complaint alleges that Personal Care was damaged by Theos and Shoun's errors when "it was forced to spend additional funds and commit time and other resources to mitigate the damages caused as a direct and proximate result of Defendants' errors." Therefore, the Circuit Court correctly found that Personal Care's malpractice claim is predicated on the *Askew* Counterclaim and that Personal Care suffered damages as soon as it was forced to incur costs to defend against the Counterclaim.

Throughout the course of this case, Personal Care has taken multiple, inconsistent positions regarding when the statute of limitations began to run. First, Personal Care acknowledged in its Verified Complaint that the statute of limitations began to run in March 2010 and would expire within ten days of March 8, 2013. (R. p. 248, ¶ 97 (invoking the safe harbor provision of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(C)(1) and asserting that "there is a good faith basis to believe the expiration of the statute of limitations is imminent"). When Personal Care first filed this action on March 8, 2013, the Verified Complaint contained the following statement:

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(B) (2006), because this Complaint is being filed when there is a good faith basis to believe the expiration of the statute of limitations is imminent, it is filed without an affidavit by expert licensed by the Supreme Court of the State of South Carolina specifying at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit. Plaintiff intends to file an Amended Complaint with an expert affidavit within forty-five (45) days.

(*Id.*) Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(B), a plaintiff alleging professional negligence "must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least

one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim based on the available evidence at the time of the filing of the affidavit.” However, the statute also provides the following safe harbor provision:

The contemporaneous filing requirement of subsection (B) does not apply to any case in which the period of limitation will expire, or there is a good faith basis to believe it will expire on a claim stated in the complaint, within ten days of the date of filing and, because of the time constraints, the plaintiff alleges that an affidavit of an expert could not be prepared. In such a case, the plaintiff has forty-five days after the filing of the complaint to supplement the pleadings with the affidavit.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(C)(1). Thus, by seeking safe harbor in subsection (C)(1), Plaintiff alleged in its sworn Verified Complaint that it had a good-faith basis to believe that the statute of limitations on its claims would expire no later than March 18, 2013.

However, at the Hearing on the Motion to Restore, when Personal Care realized that its case was at risk of not being restored to the docket because the statute of limitations had expired, Personal Care argued that although Personal Care “[c]ertainly . . . knew about the counterclaim,” (R. p. 316, line 14), the statute of limitations did not begin to run until the summer of 2012 when Personal Care allegedly suffered its first financial injury. Personal Care further argued that it had invoked the safe harbor provision in its Verified Complaint “to simply avoid even anyone raising an affirmative defense for statute of limitations.” (R. p. 318, lines 3–12.) Personal Care’s counsel explained that he “knew there was time on the statute,” but that he filed the Verified Complaint invoking the safe harbor provision because he “had a good faith belief it was going to be raised as a defense, not that it was a meritorious defense, but good faith belief it was going to be raised as a defense, and it was.” (R. p. 322, line 22– p. 323, line 8.) Not only does counsel’s argument suggest that Personal Care knowingly misused the safe harbor provision in contravention of the Legislature’s unambiguous intent, it also establishes that Personal Care made knowing misrepresentations to the Court, either when Personal Care averred in its Verified

Complaint that it had a good faith basis to believe that “expiration of the statute of limitations is imminent,” (R. p. 248, ¶ 97), or when its counsel told the Circuit Court that he “knew there was time on the statute,” (R. p. 318, lines 3–12; R. p. 322, line 22– p. 323, line 8).

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